RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS 07-17-2017TRICT I

0/-1/-2014 Rich

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff- Respondent

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

VS.

Appeal No. 2017AP000943 CR

Case No. 2015CF000403

ROMAN D. LOVELACE,

Defendant- Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. STEPHANIE G. ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. STEPHANIE G. ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT- APPELLANT

Esther Cohen Lee Attorney for Defendant- Appellant State Bar No. 1002354

Statement of the Issues				
Statement of Oral Argument and Publication.				
Statement of the Case- Procedural Facts.				
Statement of the Case- Factual.				
Argument:				
POINT I: The Circuit Court's written communication with the jurors during their deliberations in answering their questions, as to the relationship between Burglary and party to a crime and whether they were separate charges, violated the defendant's statutory right to be present during all stages of the trial and his constitutional right to counsel during the time of those communications and, therefore, he is entitled to a new trial	7			
Conclusion	16			
Certificate as to Form and Length.	17			
Certificate of Electronic copy of the Appellant's Brief	18			

TABLE OF CONTENTS OF APPENDIX

		Record Page	Appendix <u>Page</u>
1.	Criminal Complaint, filed January 23, 2015	R1	A1
2.	Information, filed February 4, 2015	R4	A3
3.	Transcript of Jury Trial, dated January 12, 2016 (portions)		
	a. Jury Instructions, re: definitions of party to a crime and burglary	R70	A4
	b. conference, re: discussion of Court's response if jury requests		
	to see exhibits or transcripts	R70	A9
4.	Transcript of Jury Trial, dated January 13, 2016 (portions)		
	a. indication that jury had reached verdicts	R71	A14
	b. verdicts announced	R71	A16
5.	jury notes to Court		A18
5.	Verdict Sheets	R22	A22
6.	Written Explanation of Determinate Sentencing, filed Feb. 17, 2016	R35	A24
7.	Judgment of Conviction, re: Burglary, PTAC, filed Feb. 18, 2016	R38	A25
8.	Judgment of Conviction, re:Obstructing an Officer, filed Feb. 18, 2016.	R39	A27
10.	Notice of Intent to pursue Postconviction Relief, filed March 7, 2016	R40	A28
11.	Decision and Order denying Postconviction Motion, dated		
	February 10, 2017	. R47	A29
12.	State's Response Postconviction Motion, dated April 5, 2017	R48	A41
13.	Defendant's Reply to State's Response, dated April 17, 2017	R52	A45
14.	Decision and Order denying Postconviction Relief, dated		
	April. 26, 2017	R53	A50
15.	Notice of Appeal, dated May 15, 2017	. R55	A53
16.	Order Appointing Counsel, dated May 16, 2017	R54	A54
17.	Certification of Appendix Requirements, dated July 11, 2017	R	A55

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

	<u> </u>	Page
State (<u>Cases</u>	
1. 2. 3. 4.	May v. State, 97 Wis. 2d 175, 293 N.W.2D 478 (1980)	13 11 10 10
State S	<u>Statutes</u>	
1. 2.	§805.13 Wis. Stats §971.04 Wis. Stats	10 11
Consti	itutional Provisions	
1. 2. 3.	Sixth Amendment to U. S. Constitution. Fourteenth Amendment to U. S. Constitution. Article I, §7 Constitution of State of Wisconsin.	10 10 10

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Q. Did the Circuit Court's written communication with the jurors during their deliberations in answering their questions, as to the relationship between Burglary and party to a crime and whether they were separate charges, violate the defendant's statutory right to be present during all stages of the trial and his constitutional right to counsel during the time of those communications and, therefore, was he entitled to a new trial?
 - A. The Circuit Court answered no.

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

It is not requested that this appeal be published and oral arguments are not necessary because the issues in this matter may be decided on established principles of law in the State of Wisconsin.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE- PROCEDURAL

- 1. This case commenced with the filing of a Criminal Complaint against the defendant and co-defendant, Matthew L. Appleton, charging them with Burglary (building or dwelling), PTAC, and Obstructing an Officer. (Record, pp. 1-2; Appendix, pp. A1- A2). Burglary is a Class F felony with a maximum sentence of 12.5 years. Obstructing or Resisting an Officer is a Class A misdemeanor, with a maximum sentence of 9 months.
- 2. The initial appearance for the defendant was held on January 24, 2015. (R58, pp. 1-9). The Preliminary Hearing was held in regard to both defendants on February 4, 2015. (R59, pp. 1-21). At the close of the hearing, the Court found probable cause to believe that a felony had been committed by both defendants and bound them over for trial.
- 3. After the Preliminary Hearing on February 4, 2015, an Information was filed charging both defendants with the same crimes that had been charged in the Criminal Complaint. (R4, App. A3). The defendant was arraigned on the Information at that time and entered a plea of not guilty. On May 20, 2015, the co-defendant, Matthew L. Appleton, pled guilty to Burglary and was sentenced on December 16, 2015 to 36 months, with 18 months of initial confinement and 18 months of extended supervision. The defendant, however, requested a jury trial.
- 4. On January 11, 2016, the jury trial in regard to the defendant commenced in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Stephanie G. Rothstein, presiding. The state was represented by Alex T. Mueller, Assistant District Attorney of Milwaukee County. The defendant was represented by Parker C. Mathers. The trial continued until January 13, 2016, at which time the jury rendered its verdict. (R71. pp. 3-4; App. pp. A16- A17). The jury found the defendant guilty of both charges. (R33, pp. 1-2, App. pp. A22- A23).

- 5. On February 17, 2016, the defendant appeared in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Stephanie G. Rothstein, presiding, for sentencing. (72, pp. 1-32). At that time, the Court sentenced him in regard to Count 1, Burglary, to 5 years with 2 years of initial confinement and 3 years of extended supervision. In regard to Count 2, Obstructing an Officer, he was sentenced to 6 months, consecutive to the sentence under Count 1.
- 6. A Written Explanation of Determinate Sentencing, noting these sentences, was filed on February 17, 2016. (R35, App. p. A24). On February 18, 2016, a Judgment of Conviction for Burglary was filed. (R38, pp. 1-2: App. pp. A25- A26). Also, a Judgment of Conviction for Obstructing an Officer was filed. (R39, p.1; App. p. A39).
- 7. On March 7, 2016, a Notice of Intent to pursue Postconviction Relief was filed on behalf of the defendant. (R40, App. p. A28). An Order Appointing Counsel was filed on April 11, 2016, appointing Esther Cohen Lee as appellate counsel to represent the defendant in regard to his appeal of this matter.
- 8. On February 13, 2017, a Postconviction Motion and Exhibits were filed on behalf of the defendant in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County. (R47, pp. 1-12; App. pp. A29-A40). The state filed a Response to the Postconviction Motion on April 5, 2017. (R48, pp. 1-4; App. pp. A41- A44). A Reply to that Response was filed on behalf of the defendant on April 19, 2017. (R52, pp. 5; App. pp. A45- A49).
- 9. On April 26, 2017, a Decision and Order denying the Postconviction Motion was issued by the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, the Hon. Stephanie G. Rothstein, presiding. (R53, pp. 1-3; App. pp. A50- A52). A Notice of Appeal was filed on May 16, 2017. (R55; App. p. A53. On May 16, 2017, an Order Appointing Counsel was issued, assigning Esther Cohen Lee as appellate counsel to represent the defendant in the Court of Appeals. (R54; App. p. A54).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE- FACTUAL

A. The Burglary at 4339 N. 29TH Street in Milwaukee and Resisting an Officer

On January 19, 2015, a female caller, named Angela, called 911 and said that she had seen two black men enter a vacant house at 4339 N. 29th Street in Milwaukee by breaking down the front door. (R70, p. 49). Although she had given a description of their clothing to the 911 caller that one of the men was wearing a multi-colored lightweight jacket and blue jeans and that the other man was wearing a black hooded sweatshirt. (R70, p. 49), she later told the police that one of the men was wearing a black and red sweatshirt and that the other man was wearing a gray sweatshirt. (R70, p. 56).

The caller said that she had seen one of them jump over a fence from the backyard to the front yard and then jump onto the front porch. She also told the 911 operator that the two men were still inside the house as she was making the 911 call. (R70, p. 49).

Following the 911 call, two officers were dispatched to that address. Officer Michael Gasser said that he and his partner, Officer Damon Wilcox, who were both wearing police uniforms, drove in their marked police car to that address. (R69, p. 63). They parked in front of the house and saw fresh footsteps in the snow leading to the front door. The front door was ajar about an inch and they found wood chips on the ground in front of the door. They also found that there was damage to the door frame. (R69, p. 64). When Gasser attempted to open the door, he found that there was a barricade behind the door. (R69, p. 65).

Gasser said that he told Wilcox that he believed someone was inside the house and Wilcox then went to the side door on the south side of the house. Gasser then walked to the north side of the house but did not see anyone. (R69, p. 66). When he walked over to the south side of the house to join Wilcox, he said, he heard glass breaking on the north side so he ran back

over there. (R69, p. 66). At that point, he saw a set of hands trying to push out a window on the first floor. He drew his gun and pointed it towards the window, yelling, "Stop, show me your hands." The person who had been trying to push out the window, whose face had not been seen by Gasser, pulled his hands back into the house. (R69, p. 67).

Gasser then called for backup and as he did so, he heard glass breaking on the rear south side where Wilcox was standing. Wilcox said he saw a man, who he later identified as Matthew Appleton, the co-defendant in this case, come to the rear door and begin to open it. Wilcox said that he saw the man holding a screwdriver in his left hand. (R69, p. 25). He immediately yelled to Appleton, "police, drop the screwdriver" and "show me your hands". (R69, p. 25).

Appleton then slammed the door and went back inside the house. He went upstairs and looked out a second story window directly above the rear door. Wilcox yelled to him to come out of the residence. Upon hearing Wilcox say that, Appleton broke the glass of that window and kicked out the entire window, with the window frame falling onto the ground right next to Wilcox. (R69, p. 26).

Then Wilcox said, he heard more glass breaking and he went to the backyard. While he was in the backyard, he saw the man he later identified as the defendant, Roman Lovelace, running west towards the alley in the rear of the house. (R69, p. 27). Wilcox said the defendant was wearing a gray sweatshirt and black sweatpants. He said he yelled, "police, stop" but the defendant continued to run. (R69, p. 28). Wilcox said that he had not seen the defendant inside the house or actually leave the house. (R69, p. 34).

However, when Gasser heard that same glass breaking, he ran over to the northeast corner of the house and saw someone trying to push out a window on the first floor. Although, at first, he said that he saw the defendant jump out that window and run west (R69, p. 71), upon

cross-examination, he said that actually he had seen the defendant directly below the window and it appeared that he had just come out it. (R70, p. 19).

Gasser said he took his gun out and pointed it at him, yelling for him to stop, after identifying himself as a police officer. (R69, p. 73). He said the defendant was wearing a gray sweatshirt and dark pants, and had long hair. (R69, p. 72). Gasser said that he chased after him until he saw Wilcox chasing right behind him. At that point, Gasser left that scene and went back towards the house to find the other man who had been in the house. (R69, p. 74).

Wilcox said that he chased the defendant into the alley behind the house and into the back yard of another house. Wilcox was right behind him and he continued to chase him as the defendant ran between two houses and then onto a sidewalk heading north on 30th Street. (R69, p. 29). Wilcox also continued to chase him down four houses, through the yard of a house, and over a fence at another house at 4364 N. 30th Street. After that, the defendant ran into the back yard of that house and fell down. At that point, Wilcox ran up to him and placed handcuffs on him. (R60, p, 29). Altogether, Wilcox said, he had chased the defendant about 100 yards. (R69, p. 32).

When Gasser ran back towards the house, he saw Appleton come out of a window from the second floor, walk out onto a ledge outside the window, and then go back inside the house. (R70.p. 6). A short time later, he heard even more glass breaking and when he ran over to the north side of the house, he saw Appleton running away from the house. Gasser said he yelled for Appleton to stop but he kept running. Appleton ran across an alley and then ran south, when the officers in another police car saw him. They existed their car and subdued and arrested him. (R70, p. 7).

B. The Testimony of the Brother of the Owner of the House

Thomas C. testified that his sister, J.C., was the owner of the house at 4339 N. 29th Street in Milwaukee. (R69, p. 32). He said that since she lived out of the state, he was the caretaker of the property. At times, he said, he rented out the property but on January 10, 2015, no one was living there. Nevertheless, he said, he went there every day to check on the property. (R69, p. 32).

He said that he had gone there on January 19, 2015 with the police to examine the property. He found that everything was strewn around and that several windows and doors had been broken. (R69, p. 34). Among other things, he found that a flat screen TV and air conditioner had been moved to the first floor. He testified that he had never given anyone permission to enter that house on January 19, 2015. (R69, p. 39).

POINT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S WRITTEN COMMUNICATION WITH THE JURORS DURING THEIR DELIBERATIONS IN ANSWERING THEIR QUESTIONS, AS TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BURGLARY AND PARTY TO A CRIME AND WHETHER THEY WERE SEPARATE CHARGES, VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S STATUTORY RIGHT TO BE PRESENT DURING ALL STAGES OF THE TRIAL AND HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL DURING THE TIME OF THOSE COMMUNICATIONS AND, THEREFORE, HE IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL.

After both parties had rested at the jury trial in this matter on January 12, 2016, the Court instructed the jury as to the legal principles involved in a criminal trial and as to the elements of the two crimes with which the defendant had been charged. Among other things, the Court charged the jury as to the elements of the crime of Burglary (building or dwelling) and the definition of party to a crime. (R70, pp. 1, 67-70; App. pp. A4- A8).

Specifically, in regard to the definition of party to a crime, the Court instructed the jury as follows:

Now, the Criminal Code of Wisconsin provides that whoever is concerned in the commission of a crime is a party to that crime and may be convicted of that crime although that person did not directly commit it. The State contends that the defendant was concerned in the commission of the crime of burglary by either directly committing it or by intentionally aiding and abetting the person who directly committed it. If a person intentionally aids and abets the commission of a crime, then that person is guilty of the crime as well as the person who directly committed it. (R70, p. 67; pp. p. A5).

The Court then discussed the definition of aiding and abetting the commission of a crime and the definition of acting intentionally. (R70, pp. 67-68; App. pp. A5-A6). It concluded that portion of the jury instructions by stating, "All 12 jurors do not have to agree whether the defendant directly committed the crime or aided and abetted the commission of the crime;

however, each juror must be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was concerned in the commission of the crime in one of those ways." (R70, p. 68; App. p. A6).

The Court also instructed the jury as to the elements of the crime of Burglary. The Court stated:

Burglary, as defined by the Criminal Code of Wisconsin, is committed by one who intentionally enters a building without the consent of the person in lawful possession and with intent to steal.

Before you may find the defendant guilty of this offense, the State must prove by evidence which satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the following four elements were present: One, the defendant intentionally entered a building. Two, the defendant entered the building without the consent of the person in lawful possession. Three, the defendant knew that the entry was without consent. And, four, the defendant entered the building with the intent to steal. (R70, pp. 68- 69; App. pp. A6- A7).

The Court continued by explaining the meaning of the element of stealing and the element of intent. It concluded this portion of the instructions by stating that, "If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant directly committed all four elements of the crime of burglary or that the defendant intentionally aided and abetted to commission of that crime, you should find the defendant guilty." (R70, p. 70; app. p. A8).

After the jurors had been excused to begin their deliberations, a conference was held with the Court at which the attorneys and the defendant were present. (R70, pp. 92- 96; App. pp. A9-A13). At that conference, the Court discussed with the attorneys the procedures it would use if the jurors asked to see certain exhibits. The Court, with the approval of the attorneys, made a determination as to which exhibits it would send back to the jurors to see if they requested them. At that conference, the Court also discussed the procedures it would use if the jurors asked to hear the testimony of certain witnesses read back to them. The Court, again with the approval of

the attorneys, made a determination that in that event, it would simply ask the jurors to "use their collective memory" about that testimony.

The jurors continued their deliberations on January 12, 2016 and eventually sent back four notes. The first note simply asked if they could take a lunch break. The second note, which had been sent out at 4:04 p.m., asked: "Please explain how Burglary and party to a crime relate and are they two separate charges or one and the same?" (R----; App. p. A19). At 4:17 p.m., without consulting with the attorneys and without the defendant being present, the Court wrote on the bottom of the note, "Please review the instructions in the notebook for the answers you need." (R----; App. p. A19).

The third note, which had been sent out at 4:25 p.m., asked, "Is it possible to see the photos of the house, specifically the south side?" The Court wrote on the bottom of the note, "Re'd.' (R-----; App. p. A20). The jurors were sent home at the end of that day and returned to continue their deliberations on January 13, 2016. During their deliberations on that day, the jurors sent out a fourth note. The jurors asked, "Can we confirm Torez Cruz testified to a description of defendant during Angela's second call, not the initial 911 call." (R----: App. p. A21). The Court wrote on the bottom of that note, "Please rely on your collective memory." (R----; App. p. A21).

The Postconviction Motion noted that the issue in this case only deals with the second note, involving the jurors' questions regarding the law involved in making their determination of whether the defendant was guilty of the crime of Burglary as party to a crime. In the Postconviction Motion, it was argued that there were two constitutional arguments that were involved with that issue.

The first argument is that the defendant had a constitutional right to be present when the Court communicated with the jury about a question of law that the jury had asked. It was argued in the Postconviction Motion that, in accordance with *State v. Anderson*, 2006 WI 77, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 695-696, 717 N.W. 2d 74, a defendant has the constitutional right to be present at every stage of his trial. This right is guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. It is also guaranteed by Article I, §7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. See also, *State v. Burton*, 112 Wis.2d 560, 564-565, 334 N.W. 2d 263 (1983).

It was also noted in the Postconviction Motion that the right to be present at every stage of his trial pursuant to §971.04 Wis. Stats. That statute provides that, "the defendant shall be present... at trial...". It has been held that, "A trial runs from the commencement of the jury selection through the final discharge of the jury and at any time an action is taken affecting the accused." *Anderson*, at 697.

And further, according to *Anderson*, "A substantive step in a trial for which an accused has the right to be present includes the circuit court's communications with the jury during deliberations." Id. at 698.

The second constitutional argument that was raised in the Postconviction Motion was that the defendant also has the right to have counsel present at every critical stage of the trial, pursuant to the Sixth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

Constitution and Article I, §7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *Anderson, at 707.* A critical stage of the trial includes the communications between the Court and the jurors because, "The assistance of counsel when a court communicates with the jury during deliberations may be necessary to a meaningful defense." Id. at 708.

With counsel present during the communication, it has been held, counsel could "potentially convince the court to address the jury communication in a manner that would support the defendant's interests." Id. at 708-709. Also, it has been held that, "Defense counsel and defendant must be present to have the opportunity to observe the judge's demeanor, first-hand, to object to statements or request curative statements in the event that the communication may be improper in any way." *Burton*, at 569.

The issue regarding the defendant's right to counsel during the communication between the Court and the jurors may not be waived unless the defendant has waived it himself.

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