RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-15-2017

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP943-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROMAN D. LOVELACE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE G. ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Lovelace has forfeited his claim that the trial court violated his right and his counsel's right to be present when the trial court communicated its response to the jury.

Lovelace claims that he and his trial counsel had a right to be present "during this critical stage of the trial." (Lovelace's Br. 15.) But because Lovelace failed to timely object to the trial court, he has forfeited this claim.

"The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides an accused the right to a public trial. . . The Supreme Court has determined that the public trial right is applicable to the states based on its incorporation into the Fourteenth Amendment." State v. Pinno, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 40, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207. In *Pinno*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that claims of constitutional errors, even structural errors such as denial of the right to a public trial, may be deemed forfeited if a timely objection is not made. *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶¶ 7–8. The court explained that "[i]t would be inimical to an efficient judicial system if a defendant could sit on his hands and try his luck" with trial despite the structural error "only to argue after his conviction" that his constitutional rights had been violated. See id. ¶ 7. See also State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 (providing that "some rights are forfeited

when they are not claimed at trial; a mere failure to object constitutes a forfeiture of the right on appellate review"); and *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶ 10–11 & n.2, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (providing that the forfeiture rule gives the parties and court notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection).

This Court should not deviate from that rule in this case. Here, CCAP clearly indicates that the parties were notified of the jury question. (R-App. 107, entry 57.) See Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp., 2013 WI App 32, ¶ 5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522 (providing that this Court may take judicial notice of CCAP entries). Lovelace points to nothing in the record or on CCAP that he ever objected to (1) not being present when the court responded, (2) his attorney not being present when the court responded, or even (3) the court's written response to the jury. (Lovelace's Br. 14.) Assuming that Lovelace was not present or that his counsel was not present to consult when the court answered the jury's question, the parties were notified, and nothing in the record or CCAP indicates that Lovelace ever objected to his absence or his attorney's absence. Had Lovelace's attorney believed that he should have been consulted, that his client should have been present, or that the court improperly answered the jury's question, an objection would have been made. That did not happen.

Accordingly, this Court should apply *Pinno* and conclude that Lovelace forfeited his claim that the trial court violated his right and his trial counsel's right to be present during the court's communication with the jury.

Should this Court determine that Lovelace did not forfeit his argument, he nevertheless loses on the merits of his claim.

II. Lovelace was not denied a fair and just hearing by virtue of his absence from the trial court's communication with the jury because Lovelace could not have gained anything by being present, and he could not have meaningfully participated in the court's response. Similarly, Lovelace has not shown that he was prejudiced by his attorney's absence because the court correctly instructed the jury.

A. Standard of review.

This case requires this Court to determine whether Lovelace and his counsel had a constitutional or statutory right to be present when the trial court responded to the jury's question. The interpretation and application of constitutional and statutory provisions are questions of law this Court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Alexander*, 2013 WI 70, ¶ 18, 349 Wis. 2d 327, 833 N.W.2d 126.

B. Legal principles: right to be present and right to have counsel present.

"Both the right to be present and the right to have counsel present are guaranteed by article I, section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution." *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI App 37, ¶ 19, 324 Wis. 2d 208, 781 N.W.2d 527.

In *Alexander*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court provided that "the presence of [a] defendant is constitutionally required only to the extent a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence. . . . The constitution does not assure 'the privilege of presence when presence would be useless, or the benefit but a shadow." *Alexander*, 349 Wis. 2d 327, ¶ 22 (alteration in original) (citation omitted) (quoting another source). The test for whether a defendant's presence is required during communications with the jury "is whether his

absence would deny him a fair and just hearing." Id. ¶ 1. "[T]he factors a trial court should consider in determining whether a defendant's presence is required to ensure a fair and just hearing include whether the defendant could meaningfully participate, whether he would gain anything by attending, and whether the presence of the defendant would be counterproductive." Id. ¶ 4.

A defendant has the constitutional right to be represented by counsel at "all critical stages of the trial." Carter, 324 Wis. 2d 208, ¶ 18 (quoting another source). "A critical stage is any point in the criminal proceedings when a person may need counsel's assistance to assure a meaningful defense." Id. (quoting another source).

C. A fair and just trial was not thwarted by the court's answer to the jury's question outside of Lovelace's presence.

Lovelace asserts that he had a right to be present at "every stage of his trial," under the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions, and also under Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(b), which provides that a defendant shall be present "at trial." (Lovelace's Br. 10.) He relies on language in *State v. Anderson*, 2006 WI 77, ¶ 43, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717, N.W.2d. 74, which provides that "[a] substantive step in a trial for which an accused has a right to be present includes the circuit court's communications with the jury during deliberations." The issue in *Anderson* was the propriety of "the circuit court's ex parte communications with the jury during deliberations outside the presence of the defendant and without notice to or consultation with the defendant." Id. ¶ 23.

But Anderson was overruled by Alexander, 349 Wis. 2d 327. The Alexander court noted: "Anderson changed what should have been a fact-specific due-process inquiry (did the communication between the judge and jury deny the defendant a fair and just hearing?) into an absolute

Confrontation Clause right to be present whenever the trial court speaks with members of the jury. We thus withdraw all language from *Anderson* intimating such a right." *Alexander*, 349 Wis. 2d 327, ¶ 28. The *Alexander* court also noted that *Anderson* never cited to case law that made clear "that a defendant has a due-process right to be present at an inchambers meeting only if his absence would deny him a 'fair and just hearing." *Id.* (citing *Leroux v. State*, 58 Wis. 2d 671, 690, 207 N.W.2d 589 (1973); *Ramer v. State*, 40 Wis. 2d 79, 85, 161 N.W.2d 209 (1968)).

Finally, the *Alexander* court opined that *Anderson* was an "outlier." *Alexander*, 349 Wis. 2d 327, ¶ 29. It recognized that the United States Supreme Court has said that the "mere occurrence of an ex parte conversation between a trial judge and a juror does not constitute a deprivation of any constitutional right. The defense has no constitutional right to be present at every interaction between a judge and juror, nor is there a constitutional right to have a court reporter transcribe every such communication." *Id.* (citing *United States v. Gagnon*, 470 U.S. 522, 526 (1985)) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

In this case, Lovelace's absence did not result in a due process violation of his right to be present because a fair and just trial was not thwarted by the court's answer to the jury's question outside of his presence. May v. State, 97 Wis. 2d 175, 293 N.W.2d 478 (1980), a case analogous to the facts and arguments at issue in this case, supports the State's position. In that case, during deliberations the jury asked the trial court the following question related to delivering a controlled substance as a party to a crime: "By withdrawing from a conspiracy has a person removed themselves (sic) from aiding and abetting the commission of a crime?" Id. at 180. The trial court answered the question "no," without informing the defendant or his attorney. Id. On appeal, the defendant raised two issues: (1) whether the trial court erred in answering the

question in the absence of counsel, and (2) whether trial court erred in answering the question in the absence of the defendant. Id.

As to the first question, the supreme court answered that because "there was no waiver in this case, counsel should have been given the opportunity to confer with the court about the appropriate response to be given to the jury's question. It was error for the trial court to answer the question without notifying counsel." May, 97 Wis. 2d at 183–84. On the second question, the supreme court held that "[a] fair and just trial was not thwarted by the court's answering that question outside the defendant's presence. The question posed by the jury dealt with a question of law and the trial court answered it correctly." Id. at 186. Additionally, the supreme court noted that "[n]othing transpired which was prejudicial or harmful to the defendant's cause, especially in view of the fact that the trial court subsequently reread to the jury the instructions party to a crime." *Id*. Therefore, concerning communication between the judge and jury did not constitute prejudice to the defendant and the error was harmless by any standard. Id. at 175.

In adopting the State's argument in its postconviction order in *this* case, the postconviction court determined:

May is almost identical to the case at bar. Here, too, the jury asked a question of law. Assuming arguendo that the parties were not notified of the jury's question, there would still be no grounds for the relief sought by defendant. Unlike May, the Court in this case did not even fashion a substantive response. The Court instead directed the jury to consult the jury instructions for their answer. These are the same jury instructions that were approved by both parties. It is clear that nothing transpired which was prejudicial or harmful to the defendant's case. The jury instructions themselves could not be prejudicial to the defendant.

(R. 53:3.)

The postconviction court's determination is correct. Lovelace would not have gained anything by being present when the court provided its written response to the jury's question, nor could he have meaningfully participated in formulating the court's response, which merely directed the jury to review the instructions that had already been given. And Lovelace makes no claim in his brief that a different response to the jury's question would have been more appropriate. He provides no alternatives.

Finally, the procedure adopted by the trial court does not contravene Wis. Stat. § 971.04 because that statute "does not require the defendant to be present before the trial court can respond to every question posed by a deliberating jury." May, 97 Wis. 2d at 187. The jury question in May "related to a question of law," and yet the court still held that "the defendant's absence at the time of the communication did not result in a non-compliance with the provisions of sec. 971.04." Id. at 188. But as the postconviction court noted in this case, the court "did not even fashion a substantive response." (R. 53:3.) Rather, the trial court merely instructed the jury to review the already agreed-upon jury instructions. Therefore, Lovelace's claim that the trial court violated Wis. Stat. § 971.04 also fails.

D. The communication between the judge and the jury did not prejudice Lovelace.

Lovelace finally argues that he was entitled to have counsel present when the trial court communicated with the jurors. (Lovelace's Br. 15.) According to Lovelace, had his counsel been aware of the jury's note, "he would have had an opportunity to make arguments to the [c]ourt as to how the [c]ourt should have responded to their question." (*Id.*) The State agrees with Lovelace that his attorney should have been given the opportunity to confer with the court about its response. *See Alexander*, 349 Wis. 2d 327, ¶ 25 ("All that is

required when the court communicates with members of the jury is that the defendant's *attorney* be present.") (citing *May*, 97 Wis. 2d at 183–84). However, contrary to Lovelace's argument, this does not automatically result in reversible error.

May also addressed this issue, and the May court's holding applies here. In May, the court of appeals held that it was error for the trial court to respond to the jury's question in the absence of defense counsel when defense counsel did not waive his absence. But the court of appeals found that the error was harmless since the trial court correctly answered the question. May, 97 Wis. 2d at 181–82. The supreme court agreed. It provided: "Since there was no waiver in this case, counsel should have been given the opportunity to confer with the court about the appropriate response to be given to the jury's question. It was error for the trial court to answer the question without notifying counsel." Id. at 184. But, the supreme court held, the communication between the court and jury did not result in prejudice to the defendant because the court correctly answered the jury's question. Id.

As in *May*, the record in this case does not suggest that counsel waived his right to be present. And, as in *May*, the defendant in this case was not prejudiced because the trial court correctly answered the jury's question. Therefore, such error was harmless. *See also State v. Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362 ("[A]n error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error proves beyond a reasonable

-

¹ As the postconviction court noted, "The defendant makes no claim that the [trial] court answered the jury's question incorrectly." (R. 53:3.) Additionally, in his appellate brief, Lovelace provides no explanation of how the trial court *should* have instructed the jury, other than conclusory claim that "[h]ad defense counsel been made aware of the jurors' note, he would have had an opportunity to make arguments to the [c]ourt as to how the [c]ourt should have responded to their question." (Lovelace's Br. 15.)

doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained."); and $State\ v.\ Tulley$, 2001 WI App 236, ¶ 7, 248 Wis. 2d 505, 635 N.W.2d 807 ("Generally, an error is harmless if there is no reasonable possibility that it contributed to the conviction."). In this case, there is no reasonable possibility that Lovelace's counsel's absence when the trial court instructed the jury to refer to the already agreed-upon jury instructions contributed to Lovelace's conviction.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and postconviction order denying relief.